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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

Independent Auditor’s Report

The Shareholder
Coralisle Group Ltd.

(formerly Colonial Group International Ltd.)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Coralisle Group Ltd. (formerly Colonial
Group International Ltd.) and its subsidiaries (the Group) which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2020, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in shareholder’s equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2020, and its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Bermuda and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The board of directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.


Hamilton, Bermuda
May 13, 2021
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Coralisle Group Ltd.
(formerly Colonial Group International Ltd.)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
(In Thousands of Bermuda Dollars)

December 31
2020 2019

$ $
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3) 83,889 87,002
Financial assets (Notes 4) 317,901 255,783
Accounts receivable and accrued interest 8,068 6,616
Amounts due from related companies (Note 11) 19,272 19,036
Insurance balances receivable 32,671 33,503
Reinsurance balances receivable 6,382 8,201
Losses recoverable from reinsurers (Note 5) 14,279 35,984
Prepaid reinsurance premiums 31,121 26,428
Deferred acquisition costs 5,285 4,697
Property, plant and equipment (Note 8) 38,357 39,232
Goodwill and intangible assets (Note 7) 9,705 10,448
Other assets (Note 6) 16,954 15,820
Total general fund assets 583,884 542,750
Segregated fund assets (Note 13) 819,150 866,438
Total assets 1,403,034 1,409,188

Liabilities
Bank overdraft (Note 3) 1,984 2,036
Lease liabilities (Note 12) 26,542 25,581
Amounts due to related companies (Note 11) 728 1,051
Reinsurance balances payable – Non-life 19,230 15,931
Outstanding losses and loss expenses (Note 5) 49,473 88,105
Reinsurance balances payable – Life (Note 5) 8,752 7,636

Unearned premiums 56,955 51,228
Deferred commission income 8,093 7,003
Other liabilities (Note 17) 27,113 20,248
Total general fund liabilities 198,870 218,819
Segregated fund liabilities (Note 13) 819,150 866,438
Total liabilities 1,018,020 1,085,257



Coralisle Group Ltd.
(formerly Colonial Group International Ltd.)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)
(In Thousands of Bermuda Dollars)
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December 31
2020 2019

$ $
Shareholder’s equity
Share capital (Note 10) 1,512 1,512
Share premium (Note 10) 2,500 2,500
Contributed surplus (Note 10) 9,804 9,804
Retained earnings 354,652 295,714
Other comprehensive (loss) income (260) 103
Total equity attributable to the equity holder of the group 368,208 309,633
Non-controlling interest (Note 10) 16,806 14,298
Total equity 385,014 323,931

Total liabilities and equity 1,403,034 1,409,188

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board:

/s/ James Finbarr Mathias O’Shaughnessy /s/ Edmund Graham (Grant) Gibbons III
Director Date: May 13, 2021 Director Date: May 13, 2021
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Coralisle Group Ltd.
(formerly Colonial Group International Ltd.)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
(In Thousands of Bermuda Dollars)

Year Ended December 31
2020 2019

$ $
Revenues
Gross premiums written 420,670 402,292
Reinsurance premiums ceded (99,087) (86,452)
Net premiums written 321,583 315,840
Net change in unearned premium (1,034) (885)
Net premiums earned 320,549 314,955
Investment income (Note 4) 17,994 20,137
Commission, service fee and other income 31,180 32,405
Total revenues 369,723 367,497
Expenses
Net claims incurred (194,967) (239,412)
Commission and acquisition cost expense (18,109) (18,117)
Operating expenses (Note 14) (86,799) (79,055)
Total expenses (299,875) (336,584)
Net income for the year 69,848 30,913

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



Coralisle Group Ltd.
(formerly Colonial Group International Ltd.)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)
(In Thousands of Bermuda Dollars)
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Year Ended December 31
2020 2019

$ $
Other comprehensive income:

Unrealized loss on financial assets held at fair value through Other
comprehensive income (FVOCI) (363) (340)

Other comprehensive loss (363) (340)
Total comprehensive income for the year 69,485 30,573

Attributable to:
Owners of the Group 65,575 28,235
Non-controlling interests 3,910 2,338

69,485 30,573

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Coralisle Group Ltd.
(formerly Colonial Group International Ltd.)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholder’s Equity
(In Thousands of Bermuda Dollars)

Attributable to the Equity Holder of the Group

Share
Capital

Share
Premium

Contributed
Surplus

Retained
Earnings

Other
Comprehensive
(Loss)/Income Total

Non-
Controlling

Interest
Total

Equity
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Adjusted Balance at
January 1, 2019 1,512 2,500 9,804 271,139 443 285,399 12,722 298,121
Dividends (Note 16) – – – (4,000) – (4,000) (762) (4,762)
Net income for the year – – – 28,575 (340) 28,235 2,338 30,572

Balance at December 31,
2019 1,512 2,500 9,804 295,714 103 309,633 14,298 323,931
Dividends (Note 16) – – – (7,000) – (7,000) (1,402) (8,402)
Net income for the year – – – 65,938 (363) 65,575 3,910 69,485

Balance at December 31,
2020 1,512 2,500 9,804 354,652 (260) 368,208 16,806 385,014

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Coralisle Group Ltd.
(formerly Colonial Group International Ltd.)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(In Thousands of Bermuda Dollars)

Year Ended December 31
2020 2019

$ $
Operating activities
Total Comprehensive income for the year 69,485 30,572
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization 6,027 6,828
Gain on disposal of assets – (5)
Interest on lease liabilities 1,264 1,323
Net unrealized (gains) losses on financial assets held at fair value

through profit and loss (9,975) (7,720)
Net unrealized losses (gains) on financial assets at FVOCI (1,382) 340
Share of (gain) loss in associated company (1,369) 268
Realized (gains) on sale of financial assets (671) (7,607)
Bond amortization 34 (179)
Operating cash flow before changes in operating working capital 63,413 23,820
Change in operating working capital (Note 15) (4,125) 17,070
Cash flows provided by operating activities 59,288 40,890
Investing activities
Proceeds from sale of financial assets 66,148 147,936
Purchase of financial assets (116,272) (150,379)
Purchase of intangible assets (Note 7) (546) (863)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (Note 8) (796) (2,392)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 5 20
Repayments from related companies (559) 1,479
Investment in Associate (Note 17) – (11,642)
Short term loan to Associate (Note 17) 1,448 (1,448)
Cash used in investing activities (50,572) (17,289)
Financing activities
Payments on principal portion of lease liabilities (3,375) (3,365)
Dividends paid to owners (Note 16) (7,000) (4,000)
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interest (1,402) (762)
Cash used in financing activities (11,777) (8,127)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (3,061) 15,474
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 84,966 69,492
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 81,905 84,966



Coralisle Group Ltd.
(formerly Colonial Group International Ltd.)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
(In Thousands of Bermuda Dollars)
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Year Ended December 31
2020 2019

$ $
Represented by:
Cash and cash equivalents 83,889 87,002
Bank overdraft (1,984) (2,036)

81,905 84,966

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Coralisle Group Ltd.
(formerly Colonial Group International Ltd.)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In Thousands of Bermuda Dollars)

December 31, 2020

1. General

Coralisle Group Ltd., (formerly Colonial Group International Ltd.) (the “Company”) was incorporated in 
Bermuda as a holding company and has its head office at the Jardine House, 33-35 Reid Street, Hamilton 
HM 12, Bermuda. The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Edmund Gibbons Limited (the “Parent 
Company”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (together forming the “Group”) operate in Bermuda, the Bahamas, the 
Cayman Islands, the British Virgin Islands, the Turks and Caicos Islands and Barbados underwriting 
primarily health and property and casualty insurance. The Group also underwrites certain life products and 
issues a diversified portfolio of investment contracts to provide its customers with asset management 
solutions for their savings and retirement assets.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

The consolidated financial statements, including all notes, were authorized for issue by the Board of
Directors on May 13, 2021.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include:

Company Former Name Domicile Principal Activities
Ownership
Percentage

Coralisle Insurance Company
Ltd. (CIC)

Colonial Insurance
Company Limited Bermuda

Property and casualty
insurance: motor,
home and commercial
property, marine,
general liability. 100%

Coralisle Medical Insurance
Company Ltd. (CMIC)

Colonial Medical
Insurance
Company Limited Bermuda

Group and individual
medical and group
life insurance. 100%



Coralisle Group Ltd.
(formerly Colonial Group International Ltd.)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands of Bermuda Dollars)
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1. General (continued)

Company
Previous Legal

Name Domicile Principal Activities
Ownership
Percentage

Coralisle Life
Assurance Company
Ltd. (CLAC)

Colonial Life
Assurance Company
Limited

Bermuda

Individual life and
annuities, accidental death.
CLAC also writes unit
linked investment policies
and personal pension plans

100%

Atlantic Medical
Insurance Limited
(AMI)

N/A Bahamas Group and individual
medical and life insurance 100%

Security & General
Insurance Company
Limited (S&G)

N/A Bahamas

Property and casualty
insurance: motor, home and
commercial property,
marine, general liability

70%

British Caymanian
Holdings Limited
(BCH)[1]

N/A Cayman
Islands

Property and casualty
insurance: motor, home and
commercial property,
marine, general liability

75%

Coralisle Private
Trustee Ltd. (CPT)

Colonial Private
Trustee Limited Bermuda

Trustee of assets of the
pension plans administered
by CPS

100%

Coralisle Pension
Services Ltd. (CPS)[2]

Colonial Pension
Services Ltd Bermuda

Pension plans
administration and
investment business

100%

Coralisle Pension
Services (Bahamas)
Ltd. (CPSB) [2]

Colonial Pension
Services (Bahamas)
Limited

Bahamas
Pension plans
administration and
investment business

99.98%

Coralisle Re Ltd. (CRe) Colonial Re Ltd. Bermuda Property catastrophe
reinsurance 100%



Coralisle Group Ltd.
(formerly Colonial Group International Ltd.)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands of Bermuda Dollars)
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1. General (continued)

Company
Previous Legal

Name Domicile Principal Activities
Ownership
Percentage

Coralisle Insurance
(BVI) Ltd. (CI (BVI))

Colonial Insurance
(BVI) Limited

British Virgin
Islands

Property and casualty
insurance: motor, home
and commercial property,
marine, general liability.
Group and individual
medical *50%

Coralisle Re Ltd. (CRe) Colonial Re Ltd. Bermuda
Property catastrophe
reinsurance 100%

Nassau Insurance
Brokers and Agents
Limited (NIBA) N/A Bahamas Insurance broker of S&G *40%
CGI Property Holding
(Bahamas) Limited N/A Bahamas Land development 100%
CGI Property Holding
(Bermuda) Limited N/A Bermuda

Property holding
company 100%

Coralisle Insurance
Brokers (TCI) Ltd. (CIB
(TCI))

CGI Insurance
Holdings Limited
(formerly Colonial
Insurance Brokers
Limited)

Turks & Caicos
Islands Insurance agent for S&G

and CMIC 100%

[1] BCH acts as a holding company for shareholders’ ownerships in British Caymanian Insurance Company Limited (BritCay Insurance) and British
Caymanian Insurance Agencies (BritCay Agencies), both are Cayman Islands registered companies and are direct wholly owned subsidiaries.

[2] On November 30, 2020, the Company acquired 4,999 of the 5,000 shares of CPSB in the form of a dividend in kind from CPS, valued at
$5,262,505. This represented the approximate fair value of the net assets of CPSB as of the disposal date.
[3] The Group considers that it controls CI (BVI) and NIBA entities even through the Group does not own more than 50% of the voting rights. This
is because the management of CI (BVI)’s and NIBA’s operations and decision-making power is held by the Group.



Coralisle Group Ltd.
(formerly Colonial Group International Ltd.)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands of Bermuda Dollars)
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as at the date of the
consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting
periods. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The most significant estimation processes relate to
assumptions used in measuring insurance and investment contract liabilities, assessing assets for
impairment and fair valuation of certain invested assets. Estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the year in which the
estimates are revised and in any future years affected.

The Company’s results and operations have been and may continue to be impacted by the
COVID-19 pandemic and the recent economic environment. The effects include but are not limited to
significant volatility in equity markets, decline in interest rates, increase in credit risk, strain on alternative
long duration asset prices, fluctuations in the frequency of insurance claims, persistency and redemptions,
and disruption of business operations. The breadth and depth of these events and their duration contribute
additional uncertainty around estimates used in determining the carrying value of certain assets and
liabilities included in these Consolidated Financial Statements. Management has considered the effect of
COVID-19 to the extent possible in its estimates and assumptions.

Although some variability is inherent in these estimates, management believes that the amounts recorded
are appropriate. The significant accounting policies used and the most significant judgments made by
management in applying these accounting policies in the preparation of these Consolidated Financial
Statements are summarized below.

Basis of Measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been compiled on the going-concern basis and prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income, which are stated at fair value, and financial assets carried
at amortized cost, which are carried at amortized cost. The consolidated statement of financial position is
presented in order of liquidity.



Coralisle Group Ltd.
(formerly Colonial Group International Ltd.)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands of Bermuda Dollars)
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Consolidation

The Company consolidates the financial statements of all entities it controls. Subsidiaries are entities
controlled by the Company. The Company has control over an entity when the Company has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of the entity, is exposed to variable returns from its activities
which are significant in relation to the total variable returns of the entity and the Company is able to use its
power over the entity to affect its share of variable returns. In assessing control, significant judgment is
applied while considering all relevant facts and circumstances. When assessing decision-making power, the
Company considers the extent of its rights relative to the management of an entity, the level of voting rights
held in an entity which are potentially or presently exercisable, the existence of any contractual management
agreements which may provide the Company with power over an entity’s financial and operating policies
and to the extent of other parties’ ownership in an entity, if any, the possibility for de facto control being
present. When assessing returns, the Company considers the significance of direct and indirect financial
and non-financial variable returns to the Company from an entity’s activities in addition to the proportionate
significance of such returns. The Company also considers the degree to which its interests are aligned with
those of other parties investing in an entity and the degree to which it may act in its own interest.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s consolidated results from the date
control is established and are excluded from consolidation from the date control ceases. The initial control
assessment is performed at inception of the Company’s involvement with the entity and is reconsidered at
a later date if the Company acquires or loses power over key operating and financial policies of the entity;
acquires additional interests or disposes of interests in the entity; the contractual arrangements of the entity
are amended such that the Company’s proportionate exposure to variable returns changes; or if the
Company’s ability to use its power to affect its variable returns from the entity changes.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared using uniform accounting policies for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Intercompany balances, and income and expenses
arising from intercompany transactions, have been eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

Non-controlling interests are interests of other parties in the equity of the Company’s subsidiaries and are
presented within total equity, separate from the equity of the Company’s shareholders. Non-
controlling interests in the net income and other comprehensive income (“OCI”) of the Company’s
subsidiaries are included in total net income and total OCI, respectively. An exception to this occurs where
the subsidiary’s shares are required to be redeemed for cash on a fixed or determinable date, in which case
other parties’ interests in the subsidiary’s capital are presented as liabilities of the Company and other
parties in the subsidiary’s income and OCI are recorded as expenses of the Company.
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(formerly Colonial Group International Ltd.)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands of Bermuda Dollars)
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The equity method of accounting is used to account for entities over which the Company has significant
influence (“associates”), whereby the Company records its share of the associate’s net assets and financial
results using uniform accounting policies for similar transactions and events. Significant judgment is used
to determine whether voting rights, contractual management and other relationships with the entity, if any,
provide the Company with significant influence over the entity. Gains and losses on the sale of associates
are included in income when realized, while impairment losses are recognized immediately when there is
objective evidence of impairment. Gains and losses on commercial transactions with associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Company’s interest in the associate. Investments in associates are included
in other assets on the Company’s consolidated statements of financial position.

Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is determined based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. Fair value is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing an asset or liability. The Group determines fair value by
using quoted prices in active markets for identical or similar assets or liabilities. When quoted prices in
active markets are not available, fair value is determined using valuation techniques that maximize the use
of observable inputs. When observable valuation inputs are not available, significant judgment is required
to determine fair value by assessing the valuation techniques and valuation inputs. The use of alternative
valuation techniques or valuation inputs may result in a different fair value.

The Group categorizes its fair value measurements according to a three-level hierarchy. The hierarchy
prioritizes the inputs used by the Group’s valuation techniques. A level is assigned to each fair value
measurement based on the lowest level input significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The
three levels of the fair value hierarchy are defined as follows:

Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical instruments.

Level 2 – Fair value measurements using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. These include quoted prices
for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets and
liabilities in inactive markets, inputs that are observable that are not prices (such as interest rates,
credit risks, etc.) and inputs that are derived from or corroborated by observable market data. Most
debt securities are classified within Level 2.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands of Bermuda Dollars)
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Level 3 – Model derived valuations in which one or more significant inputs or significant value
drivers are unobservable. These measurements include circumstances in which there is little, if any,
market activity for the asset or liability. In making the assessment, the Group considers factors
specific to the asset or liability and such an assessment will involve significant management
judgment. Because of the inherent uncertainty in the valuation of these Level 3 investments, fair
values of such investments may differ from the values that would have been used had a ready
market for these investments existed, and the differences could be material.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the Group considers all cash on hand, net of
overdrafts and time deposits with an original maturity of three months or less and money market funds
which can be redeemed without penalty, as equivalent to cash.

Financial Assets

The Group has the following classifications for measurement of financial assets: (i) financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, (ii) financial assets held at amortised cost, and (iii) financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income.

Initial Recognition and Measurement

Management determines the classification at initial recognition and is dependent on the nature of the assets
and the purpose for which the assets were acquired. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the
Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”).

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or fair value through OCI, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal
amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands of Bermuda Dollars)
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognized on the trade date, i.e., the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent Measurement

Financial Assets Carried at Amortized Cost

The Group measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met:

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (EIR) method
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognized, modified or impaired.

Financial assets classified as investments at amortized cost include notes and bonds, loans and other
receivables and term deposits.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through OCI (Debt Instruments)

The Group measures debt instruments at fair value through OCI if both of the following conditions are met:

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling.

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognized in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same
manner as for financial assets measured at amortized cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognized
in OCI. Upon de-recognition, the cumulative fair value change recognized in OCI is recycled to profit or
loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial assets classified as FVTOCI include holdings in Bahamian Government bonds.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily
required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at
amortized cost or at fair value through OCI, as described above, debt instruments may be designated at fair
value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair value recognized in the statement of profit or loss as a component of
investment income.

This category includes listed equity investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at
fair value through OCI. Dividends on listed equity investments are also recognized as investment income
in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established.

Impairment of Financial Assets

The Group assesses all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss to determine if an
allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) is required. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The Group’s expected credit loss (“ECL”) calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of
underlying assumptions regarding the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of
the ECL models that are considered accounting judgments and estimates include:

• The Group’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk, and so
allowances for financial assets should be measured on a Lifetime ECL (“LTECL”) basis and the
qualitative assessment

• The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis

• Development of ECL models, including the various formulas and the choice of inputs

• Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and economic inputs, such as
unemployment levels and collateral values, and the effect on PDs, Exposure at Default (“EAD”)
and Loss Given Defaults (“LGD”)

• Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings, to derive
the economic inputs into the ECL models

Under the general approach, expected credit losses are categorized into one of three stages. Under stage 1
of the general approach, each financial asset or financial asset grouping will be measured for expected credit
losses that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months subsequent to the current fiscal
period (12-month ECL). Under stage 2 and 3 of the general approach, the financial asset or financial asset
group must recognize an expected credit loss allowance for possible default events that may take place over
the remaining life of the instrument (lifetime ECL). The categorization of an individual asset or asset group
into stage 1, stage 2 or stage 3 is determined by whether there was a significant increase in credit risk since
the initial recognition to the reporting date, with the exception of an asset that is categorized as low credit
risk.

The stage 1 ECL classification is used for low credit risk assets or assets that have shown significant
improvement in credit quality and is reclassified from stage 2 or has had no significant change in credit risk
since initial recognition.

The stage 2 ECL classification is used for assets for which there has been a significant decrease in credit
quality since initial recognition, or stage 3 assets that have shown significant improvement in credit quality.
The stage 3 ECL is reserved for assets considered to be credit impaired.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due. Further, the Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to
be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Insurance and Investment Contracts

Insurance contracts are those contracts where the Group has accepted significant insurance risk from the
policyholders by agreeing to compensate the policyholders if a specified uncertain future event (the insured
event) adversely affects the policyholders. Contracts under which the Group does not accept significant
insurance risk are classified as either investment contracts or considered service contracts and are accounted
for in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments or IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers,
respectively.

Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance contract for the
remainder of its term, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly during this period, unless all rights
and obligations are extinguished or expire. Investment contracts can be reclassified as insurance contracts
if insurance risk subsequently becomes significant.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Premiums

The Group’s insurance premiums from health property and casualty and short-duration life insurance
contracts are earned pro rata over the term of the applicable risk period specified in the insurance policy.
The Group’s insurance policies cover losses occurring or claims made during the term of the policy.
Generally, the Group receives a fixed premium which is identified in the policy and is recorded on the
inception date of the contract and earned evenly over the policy term. Unearned premiums represent the
portion of premiums written applicable to the unexpired terms of policies in force. Premiums from long-
term life insurance contracts are recognized as revenue when they become payable by the contract holder.
Net premiums represent gross premiums, net of the share ceded to reinsurers for insuring part of the risk.

Unit-Linked Long Term Insurance Contracts

A unit-linked insurance contract is an insurance contract with an embedded derivative linking payments on
the contract to units of an internal investment fund set by the Group with the consideration received from
the contract holders. This embedded derivative meets the definition of an insurance contract and is not
therefore accounted for separately from the host insurance contract. The liability for such contracts is
adjusted for all changes in the fair value of the underlying assets. Insurance premiums for these contracts
are recognized directly as liabilities. These liabilities are increased by the change in the unit price and are
decreased by policy administration fees, mortality and surrender charges and any withdrawals.

The liability for these contracts includes any amounts necessary to compensate the Group for services to be
performed over future periods. The mortality charges deducted in each period from the contract holders as
a group are considered adequate to cover the expected total death benefit claims in excess of the contract
account balances in each period; no additional liability is established for these claims.

Revenue from these contracts consists of fees deducted for mortality, policy administration and surrender
charges. Interest or charges in the unit price credited to the account balances and excess benefit claims
incurred in the period are charged as expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Investment Contracts

Investment contract liabilities are recognized when contracts are entered into and premiums are charged.
These liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, this being the transaction price excluding any
transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of the contract. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment contract liabilities are measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Fair value is calculated as the number of units allocated to the policyholder in each unit-linked fund
multiplied by the unit-price of those funds at the reporting date. The fund assets and fund liabilities used to
determine the unit prices at the reporting date are valued on a basis consistent with their measurement basis
in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position. See note on Segregated Funds.

The liability is derecognized when the contract expires, is discharged or is cancelled. For a contract that
can be cancelled by the policyholder, the fair value of the contract cannot be less than the surrender value.

Receivables and Payables Related to Insurance Contracts and Investment Contracts

Receivables and payables are recognized when due. These include amounts due to and from insurance
contract holders, brokers and agents. Premiums receivable are recorded at amounts due less any allowance
for estimated uncollectible premiums receivable in the amount of $3,293 (2019 – $2,643).

Included in the insurance balances receivable are loans to policyholders inclusive of accrued interest in the
amount of $1,678 (2019 – $1,693). These loans are fully secured by the cash surrender values on the policies
on which the respective loans are issued.

Deferred Acquisition Costs

Deferred acquisition costs represent the cost of acquiring new business, consisting of commission expenses,
policy issuance and other costs, which are directly related to the production of new business. Acquisition
costs on insurance business are deferred and amortized to income over the period in which the premiums
are earned. Deferred acquisition costs on investment contracts are amortized over the expected average
lives of the contracts as a constant percentage of the present value of estimated gross profits arising
principally from investment results, mortality and expenses margins and surrender charges, based on
historical and anticipated future experience. Deferred acquisition costs on investment contracts are
reviewed for recoverability from future income, including investment income, and amounts which are
deemed unrecoverable are expensed in the period in which the determination is made.

Reinsurance Contracts Held

The Group uses reinsurance in the normal course of business to manage its risk exposure. Insurance ceded
to a reinsurer does not relieve the Group from its obligations to policyholders. The Group remains liable to
its policyholders for the portion reinsured to the extent that any reinsurer does not meet its obligations for
reinsurance ceded to it under the reinsurance agreements.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Reinsurance assets represent the benefit derived from reinsurance agreements in force at the reporting date,
taking into account the financial condition of the reinsurer. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are
estimated in accordance with the terms of the relevant reinsurance contract. Reinsurance assets are not
offset against the related insurance contract liabilities and are presented separately in the consolidated
statements of financial position.

Premiums ceded and claims reimbursed are presented on a gross basis in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income. Reinsurance profit commission is calculated based on past underwriting results,
and in accordance with the terms of the reinsurance contracts. The reinsurance profit commission is
recorded on the accrual basis.

Outstanding Losses and Loss Expenses

Unpaid losses and loss expenses in the consolidated statement of financial position include (i) reserves for
reported unpaid losses and loss expenses, (ii) losses incurred but not reported (referred to as IBNR reserves)
and (iii) provision for future policy benefits.

(i) Reserves for reported unpaid losses

The reserve for reported unpaid losses and loss expenses is established for losses that have been
reported, but not yet paid. The reserve for reported unpaid losses and loss expenses is estimated
based on claims reported from insureds or amounts reported from ceding companies, and represent
the estimated ultimate cost of events or conditions that have been reported to or specifically
identified by the Group.

(ii) IBNR reserves

IBNR reserves represent provision for claims that have been incurred but not yet reported to the
Group, as well as future losses development on losses already reported, in excess of the reserve for
reported unpaid losses and loss expenses. The Group appointed actuaries are responsible for
determining the amount of the IBNR reserves. The Group actuaries employ a variety of generally
accepted methodologies to determine estimated ultimate loss reserves, including the “Bornhuetter-
Ferguson incurred loss method” and frequency and severity approaches.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(iii) Provision for future policy benefits

The Group estimates the present value of future policy benefits related to long-duration contracts
using assumptions for investment yields, mortality, and expenses, including a provision for adverse
deviation. The Group appointed actuaries are responsible for determining the amount of life and
annuity policy reserve in accordance with standards established by the Canadian Institute of
Actuaries. Insurance contract liabilities, net of reinsurance assets, have been determined using the
Canadian Asset Liability Method (“CALM”) as permitted by IFRS 4, Insurance Contracts.

The Group’s outstanding losses and loss expense reserves are reviewed regularly, and adjustments, if any,
are reflected in earnings in the period in which they become known. The establishment of new losses and
loss expense reserves or the adjustment of previously recorded loss and loss expense reserves could result
in significant positive or negative changes to the Group’s financial condition for any particular period.
While management believes the Group’s estimate of losses and loss expense reserves is reasonable, the
ultimate loss experience may not be reliably predicted, and it is possible losses and loss expenses may be
materially different than the total reserve for losses and loss expenses recorded by the Group.

Insurance Benefits

Insurance benefits are recorded as expense when they are incurred. These insurance benefits include death
benefits, annuity benefits, surrenders and interest paid on policy dividends held on deposit. Insurance
benefits which are outstanding and unpaid at year-end are included in outstanding losses and loss expenses.

(i) Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses..
Depreciation is charged to general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. The estimated
useful lives are as follows:

Computer hardware 5 years
Furniture and office equipment 5 – 10 years
Leasehold improvements 10 years
Property 50 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed
at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the acquisition cost over the
fair value of the Group’s proportionate share of net identifiable assets and liabilities of an acquired business
at the acquisition date. Subsequent to initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment loss. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis. Any impairment is recognized
immediately as an expense.

Finite-life intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful life. The Group has
classified software costs as intangible assets if they are not an integral part of the computer equipment.
Finite-life intangible assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is provided
for on a straight line basis over the following estimated useful lives.

Computer software 5 years
Portfolio acquisition costs 10 – 20 years

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If
any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the
asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash generating
unit’s (CGU’s) fair value less costs of disposal and its value-in-use. The recoverable amount is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset or CGU. The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations,
which are prepared separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated.
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Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as at December 31 and when circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable
amount of each CGU (or group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of
the CGU is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized.

Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata
basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses are
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

Segregated Funds

Segregated funds arise as a result of the Group entering into contractual arrangements to administer pension
schemes and issuing investment contracts. Segregated funds are products for which the Group issues a
contract where the benefit amount is directly linked to the fair value of the investments held in the particular
segregated fund. Although the underlying assets are registered in the Group and its subsidiaries’ name and
the segregated fund contract holder has no direct access to the specific assets, the contractual arrangements
are such that the segregated fund policyholder bears the risks and rewards of the fund’s investment
performance.

Segregated funds’ net assets are recorded at fair value and primarily include investments in mutual funds,
debt securities, equities, short-term investments and cash and cash equivalents and are presented net of
management fees not yet collected. The segregated assets are not available to creditors of the Group. The
holders of the pension contracts and unit-linked life and investment contracts have no recourse to the
Group’s assets. Segregated funds net liabilities are measured based on the value of the segregated fund net
assets.

The methodology applied to determine the fair value of investments held in segregated funds is consistent
with that applied to direct investments held by the Group, as described above in the note 4 Financial Assets.
The segregated fund assets and liabilities are presented in separate lines in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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Investment returns on segregated fund assets belong to policyholders and pension plan holders and the
Group does not bear the risk associated with these assets. Accordingly, investment income earned by
segregated funds and expenses incurred by segregated funds are offset and are not separately presented in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Fees and Commission Income

Fees and commission income primarily represent fees earned from the management of the Group’s
segregated funds, administrative services income and reinsurance commission income. Fees and
commission income are recorded on an accrual basis when services are rendered.

Leases

The Group assesses, at contract inception, whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration,
a lease is present.

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognizes lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Right of Use Assets

The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. If ownership of the
leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option. The right-of use assets are also subject to periodic review for impairment.

The right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and
the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Right of use asset – Motor vehicles Up to 3 years
Right of use asset – Buildings Up to 14 years
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Lease Liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present value
of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change
in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-Term Leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of property (i.e., those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). Lease payments on short-term leases are recognized as expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Investment Income

Interest on cash and cash equivalents and debt securities is recorded on an accrual basis. Dividend income
is recognized when the right to receive the dividend is established. For loans and receivables reported at
amortized cost, interest income is calculated using the effective interest rate method and is reported in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Rental income from investment properties is reported in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income linearly according to the term of the lease.
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Defined Contribution Plan

Contributions to the defined contribution plan are recognized as an expense in net income or loss in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as incurred. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions to a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient funds to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in current and prior periods.

Retiree Health Benefits

Group employees are part of the Colonial Group International Ltd Retirees Pension and Health Insurance
benefits (Colonial Plan) whereby, the retirees will be reimbursed by the Group for a portion of the Provident
Medical Plan premium at 50%, after 15 years of service. This plan is sponsored by the Parent Company.
There is no contractual agreement or stated policy with the Parent Company for charging the Group its
share of net defined benefit cost and therefore, the portion of premium paid for the eligible retiree is
included in expenses.

Provisions and Contingent Liabilities

The Group is, from time to time, involved in various claims, legal proceedings and complaints arising in
the ordinary course of business. The Group, in conjunction with internal counsel, makes its best estimate
of the likelihood or outcome of these actions and considers this in the Group’s accrued liabilities based on
information as of the date the financial statements are available to be issued. The Group does not disclose
information usually required by IAS 37 on the grounds to not prejudice seriously the outcome of any
litigation but does not believe that adverse decisions in any pending or threatened proceedings will have a
material impact on the financial condition or future results of operations.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Bermuda dollars, which is the Group’s presentation
currency.
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Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the Group
or its subsidiaries are translated into the functional currency using the rate of exchange prevailing at the
balance sheet date. Income and expenses are translated at rates of exchange in effect on the transaction
dates. Foreign exchange gains and losses are expensed in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognized in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain and loss. Translation differences
on non-monetary financial assets classified as available for sale are included in other comprehensive
income.

The financial statements of foreign operations are translated from their respective functional currency to
Bermuda dollars, the Group’s presentation currency. Assets and liabilities are translated at rates of exchange
at the balance sheet date, and income and expenses are translated using the average rates of exchange. The
accumulated gains and losses arising from translation of functional currencies to the presentation currency
are included in other comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Prior year changes in the presentation of consolidated financial statements

During 2020, the Company changed the presentation of its consolidated financial statements and grouped
certain balances on its consolidated statement of financial position and consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. These changes did not impact the net income or the shareholder’s equity and prior
year balances were reclassified accordingly. These reclassifications within the financial statements were
made with the objective of simplifying the Company’s financial statements presentation.

Taxation

Under the laws of Bermuda, the Cayman Islands, the Bahamas and the British Virgin Islands there are
presently no income, withholding or capital gains taxes payable by the Group and its subsidiaries.
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New Standards, Interpretations and Amendments to Published Standards

New Standards, Amendments and Interpretations Effective and Adopted From the Financial Year
Beginning January 1, 2020

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material provide a new definition of material that states,
“information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity.” The amendments clarify
that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of information, either individually or in combination
with other information, in the context of the financial statements. A misstatement of information is material
if it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by the primary users. These amendments
had no impact on the financial statements of, nor is there expected to be any future impact to, the Company.

New Standards, Amendments and Interpretations but not Effective for the Financial Year Beginning
January 1, 2020, and not Early Adopted

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts was issued in May 2017 and provides a comprehensive new accounting
standard for insurance contracts covering recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. The
overall objective of IFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance contracts that is more useful
and consistent for insurers. IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods starting on or after January 1, 2023.
Early application is permitted, provided that the Group also applies IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on or before the
date it first applies IFRS 17. The Group intends to adopt the standard at its mandatory effective date and is
currently evaluating the impact of this standard.

Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2020, but do not have an impact on
the financial statements of the Group. The Group has not early adopted any standards, interpretations or
amendments that have been issued but are not effective.

There were no other such standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards that are expected
to have a significant impact on the Group.
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3. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The following table provides a summary of cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019:

2020 2019
$ $

Cash and cash equivalents 77,514 77,544
Restricted cash held on behalf of clients(1) 5,747 8,830
Restricted cash deposited with a regulator(2) 628 628
Bank overdraft (1,984) (2,036)

81,905 84,966

(1) Restricted cash held on behalf of clients pertain to money held in favor of clients which cannot be
reduced or removed without the prior consent of the respective client.

(2) Restricted cash deposited with a regulator pertains to money held as a licensing requirement.

4. Financial Assets

At the balance sheet date, financial assets are classified as follows:

2020 2019

Carrying
Value

Cost/
Amortized

Cost
Carrying

Value

Cost/
Amortized

Cost
$ $ $ $

At fair value through
profit or loss 219,294 192,027 177,318 161,641

At fair value through
OCI 67,464 67,732 50,949 50,846

Amortized cost 31,143 31,143 27,516 27,516
317,901 290,902 255,783 240,003
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The Group reclassified investments held in a Trust for the benefit of the Cayman Islands regulator from
Amortized Cost to At Fair Value Through Profit or Loss. The change occurred as at September 30, 2019.
Management having gained comfort in the experience and abilities of the managers of this portfolio decided
to change the business model and grant the managers with more freedom to manage the portfolio within
the updated investment guidelines. The core of this change is to manage and improve the credit risk of the
portfolio. The amounts reclassified out of Amortized Cost and into At Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
and the unrealized gain upon reclassification as at September 30, 2019, are presented below:

Amortized Market Unrealized
Cost Value Cost

$ $ $
US Government bonds 4,585 4,742 157
Non-US Government bonds 1,342 1,402 60
Corporate bonds 8,575 8,948 373

14,502 15,092 590

At Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

2020 2019
Fair Value Cost Fair Value Cost

$ $ $ $
Managed funds 164,485 136,843 134,506 117,664
Common equity

securities 263 1,822 261 1,888
Preferred shares 749 696 – -
Non-US Govt bonds 4,086 4,060 717 712
US Government bonds 43,007 42,194 35,368 35,024
Corporate bonds 6,704 6,352 6,466 6,352

219,294 192,027 177,318 161,640

The managed funds owned by the Group invest in a number of different types of investments which include:
large cap, small cap and emerging market equity, US bonds, high yield bonds, and alternative investments
which can include private equity. These investments are subject to the conditions and restrictions as further
defined in the terms of the offering of each fund, which are usually contained in a formal offering
memoranda. Such offering memoranda generally define the nature and types of investments in which a
managed fund can invest and provide for specified procedures regarding further investment in and
redemption from the particular fund.
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4. Financial Assets (continued)

Whilst investment in managed funds can achieve investment diversification, these investments can also
subject the Group to a concentration of risk in one company or investment strategy. Because the investment
in managed funds can only be redeemed or transferred in accordance with the terms of the offering of the
particular fund, generally weekly, monthly, or quarterly, the ability of the Group to realize such investments
may be restricted.

The investment portfolio is monitored by the Investment Committee and is subject to investment guidelines
approved by the Board of Directors.

The maturity profile of fixed maturity securities, comprising Corporate, Non-US Government and US
Government debt categorized at fair value through profit or loss, at their carrying value as at the balance
sheet date is as follows:

2020 2019
$ $

Due less than one year 23,114 14,566
From one year to five years 24,337 22,995
Over five years 6,346 4,990

53,797 42,551

For all securities regardless of classification, the Group’s largest concentrations in any one investee or
related group of investees is 12.77% (2019 – 11.80%) of total investments in a Bermuda-based fund
investing in fixed income securities and 22.51% (2019 – 21.31%) of total investments in Bahamas
Government Registered Stock. No other individual security represents more than 8.95% of total investments
(2019 – 8.25%).

FVOCI investments consist of the following fixed maturity securities:

2020 2019
$ $

Bahamas Government Registered Stock 67,464 50,046
Bahamas Treasury Stock – 903

67,464 50,949

Included in the accounts receivable and accrued interest in the statement of financial position is accrued
interest totaling $445 (2019 – $628) on financial assets at FVOCI.
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4. Financial Assets (continued)

As at December 31, 2020, the Group had $3,000 (2019 – $3,000) of Bahamas Government Registered
Stock with a maturity dates of 2026 and 2027 (2019 – 2026 and 2027) in trust by Butterfield Bank to meet
requirements of the Insurance Act 2005 (Bahamas), and as such this amount is not available for general
corporate use.

Amortized Cost Investments

Investments held at amortized cost include fixed maturity short-term deposits which are held for more than
three months from the date of acquisition and have the following maturities and interest rates:

Interest Rates Interest Rates
2020 2020 2019 2019

Three months – one year 0.75% – 2.5% $ 2,566 0.75% – 1.875% $ 4,533

The fair value of these investments at the statement of financial position date is $2,566 (2019 – $4,533).

Investments held at amortized cost also include fixed maturity debt instruments which mature as follows:

2020 2019
$ $

From one year through five years 18,318 10,655
From five years through ten years 10,259 12,328

28,577 22,984

The fair value of these investments at the statement of financial position date is $31,896 (2019 – $24,335).
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4. Financial Assets (continued)

The following table presents the Group’s fair value hierarchy for those assets or liabilities measured at fair
value and for which fair values are disclosed as of December 31, 2020:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets measured at

fair value $ $ $ $
Managed funds 8,494 154,773 1,218 164,485
US Government bonds 43,007 – – 43,007
Non-US Govt bonds – 4,086 – 4,086
Common equity securities 110 – 153 263
Preferred shares 749 – – 749
Fixed Maturity Corporate

Securities – 6,704 – 6,704
Total 52,360 165,563 1,371 219,294

Financial assets at fair value
through other
comprehensive income
“FVTOCI” – 67,464 – 67,464

Segregated fund assets
(Note 13) – 677,872 - 677,872

Assets for which fair values
are disclosed

Financial assets at amortized
cost 570 33,892 – 34,462
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4. Financial Assets (continued)

The following table presents the Group’s fair value hierarchy for those assets or liabilities measured at fair
value and for which fair values are disclosed as of December 31, 2019:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets measured at

fair value $ $ $ $
Managed funds 4,639 128,364 1,503 134,506
US Government bonds 35,368 – – 35,368
Non-US Govt bonds – 717 – 717
Common equity securities 56 – 205 261
Fixed Maturity Securities – 6,466 – 6,466
Total 40,063 135,547 1,708 177,318

Financial assets at fair value
through other
comprehensive income
“FVTOCI” – 50,949 – 50,949

Segregated fund assets
(Note 13) 17,996 848,442 1 866,439

Assets for which fair values
are disclosed

Financial assets at amortized
cost – 28,868 – 28,868

There were no reclassifications of investments between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year ended
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. There were no reclassifications of investments between
Level 3 and Level 2 during the year ended December 31, 2020.
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4. Financial Assets (continued)

(a) Financial Assets in Level 1

The fair value of investments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet
date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange,
dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These investments are included in Level 1. Investments
included in Level 1 comprise primarily domestic and foreign quoted equity shares and managed funds.

(b) Financial Assets in Level 2

The fair value of investments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques maximize the use of observable market data where it is available
and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates.

Specific valuation techniques include market standard valuation methodologies, which include discounted
cash flow analysis, consensus pricing from various broker dealers that are typically the market makers, or
other similar techniques. The assumptions and valuation inputs in applying these market standard valuation
methodologies are determined primarily using observable market inputs, which include, but are not limited
to, benchmark yields, reported trades of identical or similar instruments, broker-dealer quotes, issuer
spreads, bid prices and reference data including market research publications. In limited circumstances,
non-binding broker quotes are used. If all significant inputs required to fair value an investment are
observable, the investment is included in Level 2. Investments included in Level 2 comprise primarily
corporate debt securities and managed funds.

Fair values of the Group’s interests in unquoted managed fund investments are based upon the Net Asset
Values of the underlying investment funds as reported by the investment managers or their independent
administrators. The Group’s ability to redeem its managed fund investments at the reported net asset value
per share (or its equivalent) determines whether the managed fund investment is categorized within Level 2
or Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. If the managed fund can be redeemed within a time period of 3
months with no gates or other redemption restrictions it is classified within Level 2. Otherwise, the managed
fund is classified within Level 3.
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4. Financial Assets (continued)

(c) Financial Assets in Level 3

The following table provides a summary of the changes in fair value of the Group’s Level 3 financial assets
(and liabilities) for the year ended December 31, 2020:

Managed
Funds

Common
Equity

Segregated
Assets Total

$ $ $ $
Beginning balance at

January 1, 2020 1,503 205 1 1,709
Movement in unrealized

gains (losses) (285) (52) – (337)
Ending balance at

December 31, 2020 1,218 153 1 1,372

Total gains (losses) for
the year included in
income on Level 3
assets (recognized in
investment income) (285) (52) – (337)
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4. Financial Assets (continued)

The following table provides a summary of the changes in fair value of the Group’s Level 3 financial assets
(and liabilities) for the year ended December 31, 2019:

Managed
Funds

Common
Equity

Segregated
Assets Total

$ $ $ $
Beginning balance at

January 1, 2019 11,401 407 1 11,809
Movement in unrealized

gains (losses) 528 (202) – 326
Realized (losses) (4) – – (4)
Purchases and issuances 1,002 – – 1,002
Impairment loss (307) – – (307)
Transfers (11,117) – – (11,117)

Ending balance at
December 31, 2019 1,503 205 1 1,709

Total gains (losses) for
the year included in
income on Level 3
assets (recognized in
investment income) 524 (202) – 322

A review of the fair value hierarchy classifications is conducted on an ongoing basis. Changes in the
observability of valuation inputs may result in a reclassification for certain financial assets and liabilities.
Reclassifications impacting Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are reported as transfers in/out of the Level 3
category as of the beginning of the period in which the reclassifications occur. As a result of this ongoing
assessment, during the year ended December 31 2019, there was a transfer of an unquoted managed fund
from Level 3 to Level 2 in accordance with the Group’s policy cited above.

The Level 3 financial assets of $1,372 (2019 – $1,709) are primarily composed of funds valued on a Net
Asset Value (NAV) basis. The most significant input in the valuation is the NAV of the underlying fund.
Generally, an increase in the NAV of each underlying fund will have an equal increase in the fair value of
the financial assets.
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4. Financial Assets (continued)

Investment Income

Investment income (loss) comprises the following:

2020 2019
$ $

Dividend and interest income 5,738 5,879
Realized gains on sale of investments 671 7,607
Gain (loss) in value of investment in associate (Note 17) 1,369 (268)
Net unrealized gains on investments 11,357 7,720
Bond (amortization) accretion (34) 179
Management fees (1,157) (1,055)
Net foreign exchange gain 49 75

17,994 20,137

5. Outstanding Losses and Loss Expense Reserves

Outstanding losses and loss expenses are reported gross of reinsurance ceded and the ceded liabilities are
reported separately as a reinsurance asset. Outstanding losses and loss expenses include reserves for
reported unpaid losses and losses and loss expense incurred but not reported as well as future policy benefits
and policyholder benefits payable.

The outstanding losses and loss expense reserves are comprised of the following:

2020 2019
$ $

Property and casualty 18,820 57,282
Medical, dental and vision 21,050 22,062
Long term disability 4,911 4,561
Reserves for reported unpaid losses and losses and loss

expense incurred but not reported
44,781 83,905

Policyholder benefits payable 4,692 4,200
Total outstanding losses and loss expense reserves 49,473 88,105
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5. Outstanding Losses and Loss Expense Reserves (continued)

Non-life Business

Movements in non-life insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets are as follows:

2020 2019
Gross Reinsurance Net Gross Reinsurance Net

Loss reserves $ $ $ $ $ $
Notified claims 59,287 33,367 25,919 40,949 28,063 12,886
Incurred but not
reported 24,618 494 24,125 27,257 2,647 24,610
Total at
beginning of year 83,905 33,861 50,044 68,206 30,710 37,496

Movements
during the
year

Claims incurred
– current year 208,852 14,357 194,495 308,374 74,187 234,187

Claims incurred
– prior years (13,249) (12,075) (1,174) (3,242) (5,811) 2,569

Total claims
incurred 195,603 2,282 193,321 305,132 68,376 236,756

Claims settled in
the year (234,727) (25,334) (209,393) (289,433) (65,225) (224,208)

Total at end of
year 44,781 10,809 33,972 83,905 33,861 50,044

Notified claims 20,934 9,430 11,505 59,287 33,367 25,919
Incurred but not
reported 23,847 1,379 22,468 24,618 494 24,125
Total at end of
year 44,781 10,808 33,973 83,905 33,861 50,044
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5. Outstanding Losses and Loss Expense Reserves (continued)

The development of non-life insurance liabilities provides a measure of the Group’s ability to estimate the ultimate value of claims. The top half of the table
below illustrates how the Group’s estimate of net retained total claims outstanding for each accident year has changed at successive year ends. The bottom
half of the table reconciles the cumulative claims to the amount included within property and casualty reserves in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The non-life insurance liabilities for property claims have been excluded from the table below as such claim payments are typically resolved quickly.

Reporting year/period ended: 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Total
Estimate of ultimate claims costs: $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
At end of reporting year/period 12,841 11,489 11,041 10,927 10,959 11,415 13,026 12,074 13,292 13,678 8,320
One year later 13,914 12,279 12,261 11,919 12,308 12,255 14,456 12,841 14,674 15,437
Two years later 14,281 12,767 12,248 11,826 12,886 12,411 14,344 12,984 14,364
Three years later 14,662 12,938 12,360 11,777 13,646 12,637 14,397 12,848
Four years later 14,657 12,970 12,331 11,958 13,553 12,909 14,451
Five years later 14,706 12,732 12,212 12,015 13,709 12,959
Six years later 14,802 12,749 12,132 11,990 13,686
Seven years later 14,900 12,727 12,114 11,995
Eight years later 14,899 12,717 12,114
Nine years later 14,884 12,717
Ten years later 14,736
Current estimate of cumulative claims 14,736 12,717 12,114 11,995 13,686 12,959 14,451 12,848 14,364 15,437 8,320 128,901
Cumulative payments to date 14,728 12,575 12,109 11,991 13,411 12,816 14,049 12,354 13,180 13,234 5,689 121,409
Liability recognized in the consolidated
statement of financial position 8 142 5 4 275 153 402 494 1,184 2,203 2,631 7,492
Net Reserve, prior years 19

Add: applicable reinsurance 1,694

Total casualty loss reserves at December 31, 2020 $ 9,205
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5. Outstanding Losses and Loss Expense Reserves (continued)

Life Business

The Group had provisions for future policy benefits of ($3,471) (2019 – ($2,123)). Changes in provision
for future policy benefits during the year are as follows:

2020 2019
Gross Ceded Net Gross Ceded Net

$ $ $ $ $ $
Provision for future

policy benefits,
beginning of year  (2,123) 7,636 5,513 (2,817) 7,918 5,101

Change in reserves for
existing business on
non-investment plans
and impact of
(increase) decrease
in net asset value of
segregated funds 858 (88) 770 380 (262) 118

Change in assumptions
or methodology (1,637) 900 (737) 1,602 (357) 1,245

Reserve for new
business (569) 304 (265) (1,288) 337 (951)

Increase (decrease) in
actuarial liabilities (1,348) 1,116 (232) 694 (282) 412

Provision for future
policy benefits, end
of year  (3,471) 8,752 5,281 (2,123) 7,636 5,513

The Group estimates the present value of future policy benefits related to long duration contracts using
assumptions for investment yields, mortality, and expenses, including a provision for adverse deviation.
The Group’s appointed actuary is responsible for determining the amount of life and annuity policy reserve
in accordance with standards established by the Canadian Institute of Actuaries. Insurance contract
liabilities, net of reinsurance assets, have been determined using CALM as permitted by IFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts.
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5. Outstanding Losses and Loss Expense Reserves (continued)

The Group had policyholder benefits payable of $4,692 (2019 – $4,200). Policyholder benefits payable is
comprised of policyholder dividends on deposit and other insurance benefits payable on reported claims
and surrenders. Dividends on deposit represent the provision for the policyholders’ share of earnings on
participating business. The Group suspended dividends with effect from January 1, 2009, due to the
significant fall in the equity markets during 2008. As of December 31, 2020, dividends on deposit of $1,901
(2019 – $2,008) and accrued deposit interest of $535 (2019 – $532) are included in policyholder benefits
payable. For the year ended December 31, 2020, interest on dividends on deposit of $76 (2019 – $71) is
included in policyholder benefits paid in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The Group had deferred acquisition costs of $5,285 (2019 – and $4,697). The amortization expense is
combined with commission expense in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

6. Other Assets

2020 2019
$ $

Prepaids and other assets 4,210 2,997
Investment in Associate 12,744 11,375
Short term loan to Associate – 1,448

16,954 15,820

On June 12, 2019, the group completed the purchase of 40% of the shareholders’ equity of Beacon
Insurance Company Limited (“BICL”) for a total of $11,643. The group has the option to make additional
investment in 2021. If an additional investment is made, on completion, this acquisition will deliver 6
additional licenses to offer insurance products in the southern and eastern Caribbean.

For the year ended December 31, 2020 and the period ended December 31, 2019, BICL reported net income
(loss) after tax of $3,423 and $(668), respectively, representing $1,369 and $(268), respectively, for the
group’s 40% share. The income (loss) from this investment in BICL is included in investment income in
the group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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7. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Included in Goodwill and Intangible Assets is Goodwill of $6,518 (2019 – $6,518) allocated to one cash-
generating unit (CGU), BCH.

When testing for impairment, the recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. A Group-specific risk-adjusted discount rate of 5% (2019 – 5%)
is used. The projected cash flows are determined by budgets based on past performances and management
expectations for market developments.

No impairment loss was recorded as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Intangible assets as at December 31, 2020, are detailed below:

2019 Additions Disposals 2020
Cost $ $ $ $
Computer software 12,536 550 (567) 12,519
Portfolio acquisition cost 2,648 – – 2,648

15,184 550 (567) 15,167

Amortization
2019 Expense Disposals 2020

Accumulated amortization $ $ $ $
Computer software 9,722 1,024 (563) 10,183
Portfolio acquisition cost 1,532 265 – 1,797

11,254 1,289 (563) 11,980

Net book value 3,930 3,187
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7. Goodwill and Intangible Assets (continued)

Intangible assets as at December 31, 2019, are detailed below:

2018 Additions Disposals 2019
Cost $ $ $ $
Computer software 11,766 863 (93) 12,536
Portfolio acquisition cost 2,688 – (40) 2,648

14,454 863 (133) 15,184

Amortization
2018 Expense Disposals 2019

Accumulated amortization $ $ $ $
Computer software 8,277 1,538 (93) 9,722
Portfolio acquisition cost 1,308 265 (41) 1,532

9,585 1,803 (134) 11,254

Net book value 4,869 3,930

No impairment was recorded as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment as at December 31, 2020, comprise the following:

2019 Additions Disposals 2020
Cost $ $ $ $
Land 1,805 – – 1,805
Property 8,842 – – 8,842
Leasehold improvements 12,598 163 (210) 12,551
Right of use assets 28,768 3,071 (88) 31,751
Computer hardware 10,720 321 (129) 10,912
Furniture and office equipment 9,605 133 (195) 9,543
Motor vehicles 345 180 (34) 491

72,683 3,868 (656) 75,895

Depreciation Reallocation/
2019 Expense Disposals 2020

Accumulated depreciation $ $ $ $
Land – – – –
Property 3,439 173 – 3,612
Leasehold improvements 10,229 689 (208) 10,710
Right of use assets 2,609 2,596 (88) 5,117
Computer hardware 8,829 783 (114) 9,498
Furniture and office equipment 8,116 446 (215) 8,347
Motor vehicles 229 52 (27) 254

33,451 4,739 (652) 37,538

Net book value 39,232 38,357

The additions to property, plant and equipment include $3,071 representing three lease agreements for
properties located in British Virgin Islands, Turks and Caicos Islands and Cayman Islands, all subject to
lease financing arrangements.
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment as at December 31, 2019, comprise the following:

2018 Additions Disposals 2019
Cost $ $ $ $
Land 1,803 2 – 1,805
Property 8,633 209 – 8,842
Leasehold improvements 13,269 75 (746) 12,598
Right of use assets – 28,792 (24) 28,768
Computer hardware 10,022 708 (10) 10,720
Furniture and office equipment 9,500 229 (124) 9,605
Motor vehicles 335 10 – 345

43,562 30,025 (906) 72,683

 Depreciation Reallocation/
2018 Expense Disposals 2019

Accumulated depreciation $ $ $ $
Land – – – –
Property 3,266 173 – 3,439
Leasehold improvements 10,084 891 (746) 10,229
Right of use assets – 2,618 (9) 2,609
Computer hardware 7,992 847 (10) 8,829
Furniture and office equipment 7,788 452 (124) 8,116
Motor vehicles 174 55 – 229

29,304 5,036 (889) 33,451

Net book value 14,258 39,232
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9. Risk Management and Financial Instruments

The activities of the Group involve the use of insurance contracts and financial instruments. As such, the
Group is exposed to insurance risks and financial risks. This note presents information about the Group’s
exposure to each of the above risks, the objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk
and the Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these
financial statements.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk
management framework. The Board has established an Investment Committee, Risk Oversight Committee
and Audit Committee, which along with the President of the Group are responsible for developing and
monitoring the Group’s risk management policies. The committees and President report regularly to the
Board of Directors on their activities.

The risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Group, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies
and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The
Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and
constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Audit Committee and Risk Oversight Committee of the Group are standing committees of the Board
of Directors and assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating to the financial reporting
process, internal accounting and financial controls, audit and risk review process, risk assessment and risk
management and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee, Risk Oversight
Committee and Investment Management Committee meet at least three times per annum and report to the
Board of Directors on their performance with respect to their respective terms of reference.
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9. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued)

The principles used by the Group in managing its insurance risks are set out below.

Insurance Risk

The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the uncertainty
of the amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk is random and
therefore unpredictable.

For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and provisioning,
the principal risk that the Group faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual claims payments exceed
the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities. This could occur because the frequency or severity of claims
is greater than estimated. Insurance events are random and the actual number and amount of claims will
vary from year to year from the level established using statistical techniques.

Factors that aggravate insurance risk include lack of risk diversification in terms of type and amount of risk,
geographical location and type of industry covered. The Group insures the risks of individuals located in
Bermuda, British Virgin Islands, Barbados, Bahamas, the Cayman Islands, and Turks and Caicos Islands
and internationally, therefore there is a diversification of geographic risk. There is a concentration of
industry risk which is managed through its underwriting strategy and reinsurance arrangements. The Group
actively manages and pursues early settlements of claims to reduce its exposure to unpredictable
developments.

The Group predominantly funds its net insurance liabilities (net of reinsurance recoveries) through its cash
and in the normal course of its operations. In the event of a catastrophe, the net insurance liabilities may
require to be funded through the disposal of the Group’s portfolio of investments.

The mean duration of liabilities is calculated using historical claims data to determine the expected
settlement pattern for claims arising from insurance contracts in force at the consolidated statement of
financial position date (both incurred claims and future claims arising from the unexpired risks at the
consolidated statement of financial position date).
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9. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued)

The mean durations are:

2020 2019

Net short-term insurance liabilities – medical 2 months 2 months
Net short-term insurance liabilities – property risk 3 months to 18 months 3 months to 1 year
Net short-term insurance liabilities – casualty risk 2–3 years 3 months to 2–3 years

General Insurance

The Group provides property, casualty and health insurance coverage in Bermuda, Cayman, the Bahamas,
the British Virgin Islands, Barbados and the Turks & Caicos Islands for motor vehicle, motor cycle,
property, marine, general liability, medical, dental, vision, long term disability, short term disability, group
life and accidental death and dismemberment risks.

The Group provides property and casualty coverage with the following per risk treaty limits:

Treaty Limit Per Risk (in millions of Bermuda dollars)
Bermuda Bahamas Cayman BVI

Property 13.0 10 7.3 2.5
Motor liability 5.0 2.5 12.2 1.0
General liability 5.0 5.0 6.0 5.0
Marine hull liability 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5

Group provides health coverage with the following maximum limits:

Maximum
Coverage Limit

$
Medical 5,000
Group life 2,000
Accidental death and dismemberment 2,000
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9. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued)

The Group also offers international health insurance coverage for medical, dental, life, long term disability
and accidental death and dismemberment risks for individuals and groups working outside their home
country. The maximum annual coverage limit is $2,000 per insured.

Insurance contract risk is the risk that a loss arises from the following reasons:

• fluctuation in the timing, frequency and severity of claims relative to expectations;

• inadequate reinsurance protection; and

• large unexpected losses arising from a single event such as a catastrophe.

Insured events can occur at any time during the coverage period and can generate losses of variable
amounts. An objective of the Group is to ensure that sufficient claims liabilities are established to cover
future insurance claim payments related to past insured events. The Group’s success depends upon its
ability to accurately assess the risk associated with the insurance contracts underwritten by the Group. The
group establishes claims liabilities to cover the estimated liability for the payment of all losses, including
loss adjustment expenses incurred with respect to insurance contracts underwritten by the group. Claims
liabilities do not represent an exact calculation of the liability. Rather, claims liabilities are the Group’s best
estimates of its expected ultimate cost of resolution and administration of claims.

The composition of the Group’s insurance risk, as well as the methods employed to mitigate risks, are
described below.

Risk Related to the Timing, Frequency and Severity of Claims

The occurrence of claims being unforeseeable, the Group is exposed to the risk that the number and the
severity of claims would exceed the estimates.

Strict claim review policies are in place to assess all new and ongoing claims. Regular detailed reviews of
claims handling procedures and frequent investigations of possible fraudulent claims reduce the Group’s
risk exposure. Further, the Group enforces a policy of actively managing and promptly pursuing claims, in
order to reduce its exposure to unpredictable future developments that could negatively impact the business.



Coralisle Group Ltd.
(formerly Colonial Group International Ltd.)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands of Bermuda Dollars, Except Share Amounts)

55

9. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued)

Reinsurance Protection

In the normal course of business, the Group limits the amount of loss on any one policy by reinsuring certain
levels of risk with other insurers. Reinsurance ceded does not discharge the Group’s liability as the primary
insurer. In the event that the reinsurers are unable to meet their obligations under the reinsurance
agreements, the Group would also be liable for the reinsured amount.

The Group reinsures its property risks under property surplus and quota share treaties specific to each
jurisdiction. For larger individual property risks the Group provides coverage by way of prearranged
facilities and facultative reinsurance. The Group also purchases property catastrophe reinsurance for each
jurisdiction in excess of $7,000 (2019 – $5,000) up to a maximum recovery of $140,000 (2019 – $130,000).

The Group’s motor and general liability exposure is limited to $500 per claim through the purchase of
excess of loss reinsurance which covers the maximum limits insured on any one risk in all jurisdictions.

The Group purchases an excess of loss reinsurance treaty which specifically limits marine losses to $125
per risk and per occurrence.

For Medical risks the Group follows the policy of underwriting and reinsuring all contracts of insurance,
which limit the retained liability of the Group to a maximum amount of $350 on any one individual medical
loss per year.

For group life, the Group purchases reinsurance for 80% of the first $250 per life under a quota share
agreement. Group life and accidental death and dismemberment coverage in excess of $250 is fully
reinsured on a quota share basis. For long term disability, the Group purchases reinsurance for 90% of the
associated risk. Short term disability is reinsured for 60% of the Group’s gross liability to a maximum gross
weekly benefit of $3.5 per person.

The international health insurance coverage for medical, dental, life, long term disability and accidental
death and dismemberment risks is reinsured at the same limits mentioned above.
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9. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued)

Catastrophe Risk

Catastrophe risk is the risk of occurrence of a large number of claims arising from a single event such as an
earthquake, hurricane or tsunami. Catastrophes can have a significant impact on the underwriting income
of an insurer.

The Group has limited its exposure to catastrophe risk by imposing maximum claim amounts on certain
contracts, as well as by using reinsurance arrangements. The Group buys a combination of proportional and
non-proportional reinsurance to manage catastrophe exposure. Retentions and limits for ceded reinsurance
vary by product line and jurisdiction. The Group purchased catastrophic excess of loss life reinsurance for
losses in excess of $250 per occurrence limited to $5,000 each occurrence. This reinsurance provides cover
for the loss of six lives or more that are involved in any one loss.

Exposure to Insurance Risk

The principal assumption underlying the unpaid claim estimates is that the Group’s future claims
development will follow a similar pattern to past claims development experience. This includes
assumptions in respect of average claim costs, claim handling costs, claim inflation factors and claim
numbers for each accident year. Additional qualitative judgements are used to assess the extent to which
past trends may not apply in the future, for example: one-off occurrence: changes in market factors such as
public attitude to claiming: economic conditions: as well as internal factors such as portfolio mix, policy
conditions and claims handling procedures.

Judgment is further used to assess the extent to which external factors such as judicial decisions and
government legislation affect the estimates. Other key circumstances affecting the reliability of assumptions
include variation in interest rates, delays in settlement and changes in foreign currency rates.

The non-life insurance claim liabilities are sensitive to the key assumptions in the table below. It has not
been possible to quantify the sensitivity of certain assumptions such as legislative changes or uncertainty
in the estimation process. The following analysis is performed for reasonably possible movements in key
assumptions with all other assumptions held constant, showing the impact on gross and net liabilities, profit
before tax and equity. The correlation of assumptions will have a significant effect in determining the
ultimate claims liabilities, but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in assumptions, assumptions had
to be changed on an individual basis. It should be noted that movements in these assumptions are non-
linear.
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9. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued)

The claims liabilities’ sensitivity to certain of these key assumptions is outlined below for the Group’s
property and casualty business and the Group’s medical business, as there are various ratios of sensitivity
used for this analysis. It is not possible to quantify the sensitivity to certain assumptions such as legislative
changes or uncertainty in the estimation process. The analysis is performed for possible movements in the
assumptions with all other assumptions held constant, showing the impact on net income. Movements in
these assumptions may be non-linear and may be correlated with one another.

Sensitivity Factor Description of Sensitivity Factor Applied

Average number of claims (frequency) The impact of a change in number of claims by 10%
Average claim costs (severity) The impact of a change in average claim cost by 10%

Number of
Claims +10%

Number of
Claims -10%

Claim Costs
+10%

Claim Costs
-10%

Increase (Decrease)
P&C entities $
At December 31, 2020
Impact on profit* (1,304) 1,304 (1,304) 1,304
Impact on shareholder’s equity* (1,304) 1,304 (1,304) 1,304
Net of reinsurance

Frequency of
Claims +16%

Frequency of
Claims –14%

Severity of
Claims +13%

Severity of
Claims --12%

Medical Insurance Entities Increase/(Decrease)
At December 31, 2020 $ $ $ $
Impact on profit (2,144) 1,589 (2,473) 2,283
Impact on shareholder’s equity (2,144) 1,589 (2,473) 2,283
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9. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued)

Long Term Insurance

The Group provides life insurance and accidental death benefits coverage as well as investment and savings
products in Bermuda, Cayman, British Virgin Islands and internationally. Life insurance contracts offered
by the Group include: whole life, term assurance, single premium immediate annuity and variable life.
Whole life and term assurance are conventional regular premium products where lump sum benefits are
payable on death. All life insurance policies include the option to purchase contribution protection benefits
that provide for payment of contributions on behalf of policyholders in periods of total disability.

The main risks that the Group is exposed to are as follows:

– Mortality risk – risk of loss arising due to policyholder death experience being different than
expected. The Group maintains underwriting standards to determine the insurability of applicants.
Claim trends are monitored on an ongoing basis. Exposure to large claims is managed by
establishing policy retention limits, which vary by market and geographic location. Policies in
excess of the limits are reinsured with other companies.

– Longevity risk – risk of loss arising due to the annuitant living longer than expected

– Investment return risk – risk of loss arising from actual returns being different than expected. The
Group’s policy of closely matching asset cash flows with those of the corresponding liabilities is
designed to mitigate the Group’s exposure to future changes in interest rates. The interest rate risk
positions are monitored on an ongoing basis.

– Expense risk – risk of loss arising from expense experience being different than expected. The
Group closely monitors expenses through an annual budgeting process and ongoing monitoring of
any expense gaps between unit expenses assumed in pricing and actual expenses.

– Policyholder decision risk – risk of loss arising due to policyholder experiences (lapses and
surrenders) being different than expected. The Group seeks to design products that minimize
financial exposure to lapse, surrender and other policyholder decision risk. The Group monitors
lapse, surrender and other policyholder decision experience.

These risks do not vary significantly in relation to the location of the risk insured by the Group, type of risk
insured or by industry.
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9. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued)

The Group mitigates its exposures to Long Term Insurance through the use of reinsurance. The Group does
not assure any individual life risks in excess of the reinsurers’ limits. The individual life business is
reinsured on claims in excess of $100 domestically and $100 internationally with the reinsurers’ limit being
$3,000. However, the Group’s reinsurer has made exceptions on individual considerations and has accepted
higher limits. The reinsurer can participate in risks up to $1,000 of accidental death benefit (ADB) per life
with all carriers. The Group does not assure any individual ADB risks in excess of the reinsurer’s limits.
The Group does not retain any exposure to ADB risks.

Financial Risk

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• credit risk

• liquidity risk

• market risk

The nature and extent of the financial instruments outstanding at the balance sheet date and the risk
management policies of the Group are discussed below:

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counter-party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation or
commitment that it has entered into with the Group. The Group’s maximum credit risk exposure is the
carrying value of assets less any provisions for irrecoverable amounts. The Group is exposed to credit risk
in the following areas:

Cash and Investments

Investment asset allocation is determined by the Group’s investment manager who manages the distribution
of the assets to achieve the Group’s investment objectives. Divergence from target asset allocations and the
composition of the portfolio is monitored by the Group’s Board of Directors and Investment Committee.
Details of concentrations of cash and cash equivalents and investments are disclosed in Notes 3 and 4.
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9. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued)

Insurance Balances Receivable

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced by the financial stability of entities and individuals that
purchase insurance products. This credit risk is controlled by monitoring the aging of all amounts
outstanding on an ongoing basis and monitoring the customers’ financial health by reference to the media
and discussions with the customers. A provision is made for non-recovery if considered necessary.

Collateral is not held against any of the outstanding balances; however the Group has the right to cancel the
policy for non-payment. Based on the Group’s current aging analysis, all premiums receivable over 30 days
are considered to be past due but not impaired. Customer accounts that become past due over 60 days are
placed on-hold and those that are over 90 days past due are considered for impairment by management.
Cancellation or extension of the terms of the credit is considered on a case by case basis.

Reinsurance Balances Receivable

Reinsurance contracts do not relieve the Group from its obligations to policyholders. Failure of reinsurers
to honor their obligations could result in losses to the Group; consequently, allowances are established for
amounts deemed uncollectible. The Group evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurers and monitors
concentrations of credit risk arising from similar geographic regions, activities, or economic characteristics
of its reinsurers to minimize the exposure to significant losses from reinsurer insolvencies.

The Group reviews the creditworthiness of reinsurers on an annual basis and only enters and maintains
contracts with reinsurers that (1) have been rated as A- or higher by the AM Best credit rating agency and
(2) have in excess of $500 million in capital and surplus. Current financial statements of the reinsurers are
reviewed annually. Based on the individual reinsurance agreements, the Group may have the right to offset
amounts due to reinsurers against any amounts due from reinsurers.

Amounts due from reinsurers are assessed regularly for any indication of impairment. At December 31,
2020, losses recoverable from reinsurers were due from reinsurers who all have an A.M. Best rating of at
least A-. Management considers that there is no significant credit risk associated with any of the Group’s
reinsurers.
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9. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued)

Related-Party Receivables

Amounts due from related parties are assessed and monitored for any indication of impairment. At
December 31, 2020, the majority of amounts due from related parties were due from Gibbons Management
Services Limited. At December 31, 2020, all amounts are considered collectible.

The following table analyses the aging of the Group’s receivables as at December 31, 2020:

Accounts
Receivable

and Accrued
Interest

Insurance
Balances

Receivable

Reinsurance
Balances

Receivable

Losses
Recoverable

From
Reinsurers

Amounts
Due From

Related
Companies Total

$ $ $ $ $ $
Amounts not currently

due or up to 30 days 7,744 26,267 5,587 14,279 19,272 73,149
31 – 60 days 112 3,591 11 – – 3,714
61 – 90 days 99 1,693 14 – – 1,806
Over 90 days 113 1,120 770 – – 2,003

8,068 32,671 6,382 14,279 19,272 80,672

The following table analyses the aging of the Group’s receivables as at December 31, 2019:

Accounts
Receivable

and Accrued
Interest

Insurance
Balances

Receivable

Reinsurance
Balances

Receivable

Losses
Recoverable

From
Reinsurers

Amounts
Due From

Related
Companies Total

$ $ $ $ $ $
Amounts not currently

due or up to 30 days
6,286 24,837 7,495 35,984 19,036 93,638

31 – 60 days 118 4,502 16 – – 4,636
61 – 90 days 99 2,744 4 – – 2,847
Over 90 days 113 1,420 686 – – 2,219

6,616 33,503 8,201 35,984 19,036 103,340

Included in insurance balances receivable are amounts past due of $6,294 (2019 – $8,359) that are not
considered to be impaired.
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9. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued)

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become
due. The Group is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources for the payment of claims, policy
benefits and operating expenses. In order to manage the Group’s liquidity risk, management seeks to
maintain levels of cash and short-term deposits sufficient to meet its liabilities when due, under normal and
stressed conditions without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The following table summarizes the contractual recovery or settlement of other assets held (within 12
months from the balance sheet date) and the maturity profile of the Group’s liabilities relating to financial
instruments and insurance contracts:

2020 2019
Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total

Financial assets $ $ $ $ $ $
Cash and cash

equivalents 83,639 250 83,889 86,928 74 87,002
Financial assets 223,812 94,089 317,901 179,923 75,860 255,783
Accounts

receivable and
accrued interest 8,068 – 8,068 6,616 – 6,616

Insurance
balances
receivable 32,671 – 32,671 33,503 – 33,503

Reinsurance
balances
receivable 6,382 – 6,382 8,201 – 8,201

Losses
recoverable
from reinsurers 10,808 3,471 14,279 33,861 2,123 35,984

Amounts due
from related
companies 13,041 6,231 19,272 12,792 6,243 19,035

378,421 104,041 482,462 361,824 84,300 446,124
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9. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued)

2020 2019
Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total

Financial
liabilities $ $ $ $ $ $

Bank overdraft 1,984 – 1,984 2,036 – 2,036
Outstanding losses

and loss
expenses 49,473 – 49,473 88,105 – 88,105

Reinsurance
balances payable
– NL 19,230 – 19,230 15,931 – 15,931

Lease liabilities 3,448 23,094 26,542 3,057 22,524 25,581
Accounts payable

and other
liabilities 27,113 – 27,113 20,248 – 20,248

Reinsurance
balances
payable-Life 8,604 148 8,752 7,533 103 7,636

Amounts due to
related
companies 728 – 728 1,051 – 1,051

Total 110,580 23,242 133,822 137,961 22,627 160,588

Liquidity margin 267,841 80,799 348,640 223,863 61,673 285,536
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9. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued)

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as equity prices, interest rates and foreign 
exchange rates will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 
objective of the Group’s market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return.

Although the Group is not directly exposed to market risk on the net assets held in segregated funds arising 
from investment contracts issued, the valuation and recoverability of deferred acquisition costs associated 
with investment contracts may be adversely affected by changes in value of the segregated funds.

Interest-Rate Risk

The Group invests in fixed interest debt securities and managed funds, the fair values of which are affected 
by changes in interest rates. The coupon rates and maturity dates associated with the fixed interest debt 
securities held by the Group is disclosed in Note 4. Details of interest rate risk on related party balances are 
disclosed in Note 14.

As administrator of the segregated funds, the Group earns a fee based on the value of the segregated assets. 
Fluctuation in the valuation of segregated funds impact the fee earned by the Group.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk arises from some of its subsidiaries which report in
currencies other than the Bermuda or US dollar. These subsidiaries are BCH which reports in the Cayman
Islands dollar, and, S&G, NIBA and AMI which report in the Bahamas dollar. The Group is exposed to
risks that the exchange rate of the Bermuda/US dollar relative to the Cayman Islands or Bahamas dollar
may change in a manner which will have an adverse effect on the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
profit and related cash flows. This risk is mitigated as both the Cayman Islands and Bahamas dollar are
pegged to the US dollar. As a result, exposure to these currencies is insignificant for the year ended
December 31, 2020.
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9. Risk Management and Financial Instruments (continued)

Equity Price Risk

The Group is subject to equity price risk due to daily changes in the market value of securities in its fund
and equity portfolios. Equity price risk is actively managed in order to mitigate anticipated unfavorable
market movements where this lies outside the risk appetite of the Group’s Investment Committee.
Diversified portfolios of assets are held in order to reduce exposure to individual equities. At the balance
sheet date management estimates that a 10% increase in prices for common equities and equity based
managed funds held, with all other variables held constant, would increase net income by approximately
$5,213(2019 – $3,744). A 10% decrease in equity prices would have a corresponding decrease in net
income.

Limitations of Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity information included in this note demonstrates the estimated impact of a change in a major
input assumption while other assumptions remain unchanged. In reality, there are normally significant
levels of correlation between the assumptions and other factors. It should also be noted that these
sensitivities are non-linear and larger or smaller impacts should not be interpolated or extrapolated from
these results. Furthermore, estimates of sensitivity may become less reliable in unusual market conditions
such as instances when risk free interest rates fall towards zero.

10. Capital Management and Statutory Requirements

The Group’s capital base is structured to exceed regulatory targets and desired capital ratios, maintain
strong credit ratings and provide flexibility to take advantage of growth opportunities and provide an
adequate return to shareholders. Capital is managed on a consolidated basis under principles that consider
all the risks associated with the business. It is also managed at the business unit level under the principles
appropriate to the jurisdiction in which the business unit operates. The Board of Directors is responsible for
devising the Group’s capital plan with management responsible for the implementation of the plan. The
policy is designed to provide an appropriate level of risk management over capital adequacy risk, which is
defined as the risk that capital is not or will not be sufficient to withstand adverse economic conditions, to
maintain financial strength or to allow the Group to take advantage of opportunities for expansion.
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10. Capital Management and Statutory Requirements (continued)

Common Shares

2020 2019
$ $

Authorized share capital:
3,012,000 common shares of par value $1 each 3,012 3,012

Issued and fully paid:
1,512,000 common shares of par value $1 each 1,512 1,512

The group is authorized to issue 20,000,000 redeemable preferred shares.

Share Premium

Share premium represents the par value of the 2,500,000 common shares of CIC which were contributed to
the Group as part of the corporate restructuring on January 30, 1996.

Contributed Surplus

A reassessment of assumptions used in valuing a business acquisition in 1995 resulted in $2,447 being
recorded as contributed surplus.

During 2009, the Group received a cash contribution of $7,000 from the parent company.

In the periods 2010 through 2012 the Group received capital contributions totaling $357 by way of
subsidized interest rates awarded to staff by an affiliate bank which was settled by the Group’s parent.
Thereafter the expense has been charged to group companies.
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10. Capital Management and Statutory Requirements (continued)

Non-Controlling Interests

Non-controlling interest of $16,806 (2019 – $14,298) has been recorded as noted below:

2020 2019
Non-Controlling interest $ $
BCH 25% 12,010 10,497
S&G 30% 1,782 1,097
BVI 50% 2,180 2,008
NIBA 60% 834 696

16,806 14,298

Statutory Requirements

Management monitors the adequacy of the Group and its operating subsidiaries’ capital from the
perspective of relevant legislation in the jurisdictions in which it operates. The Group’s subsidiaries are
required to maintain certain minimum levels of capital and surplus stipulated within each subsidiary’s
jurisdiction. At the balance sheet date, the Group’s subsidiaries had exceeded these requirements as noted
below:

2020 2019
Minimum
Required Actual

Minimum
Required Actual

$ $ $ $
CIC 19,564 27,894 16,245 23,401
CMIC 38,523 131,946 31,638 117,179
CLAC 3,774 21,213 1,994 18,611
CRe 10,679 16,646 7,000 11,889
BritCay
Insurance Ltd. 4,486 40,793 4,239 33,762
AMI 22,150 76,694 24,040 49,496
S&G 4,184 9,777 4,219 7,734

Each year the Group is required to file with the Bermuda Monetary Authority (the “BMA”), a capital and
solvency return for the Group. The prescribed form of capital and solvency return comprises the insurer’s
Bermuda Solvency Capital Requirement model (“Group BSCR”), a schedule of fixed income investments
by rating category, a schedule of net loss and loss expense provision by line of business, a schedule of
premiums written by line of business, a schedule of risk management and a schedule of fixed income
securities.
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10. Capital Management and Statutory Requirements (continued)

The Group BSCR includes a standardized formula to measure the risk associated with an insurer’s assets,
liabilities and premiums. The BMA requires insurers to maintain their capital at a target level which is
120% of the amount calculated in accordance with the Group BSCR (the “Enhanced Capital Requirement”
or “ECR”).

At December 31, 2020, the Group’s ECR was $64,743 (2019 – $70,686 (unaudited)).

11. Related-Party Transactions

The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

(a) Income and Expenses

The Group’s subsidiaries insure the commercial and health risks of several related companies. These risks
are written at standard commercial rates and are subject to the normal reinsurance protections of the Group.
The premiums written for related companies are approximately $14,200 for the year ended December 31,
2020, (2019 – $11,963). Of this, $243 (2019 – $585) is included in insurance balances receivable at the
statement of financial position date.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, general and administrative expenses include $1,294 (2019 – $1,802)
of pensions costs payable to related companies.

Lease liabilities of $23,548 (2019 – $25,434) are due to companies owned in part by directors.



Coralisle Group Ltd.
(formerly Colonial Group International Ltd.)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(In Thousands of Bermuda Dollars, Except Share Amounts)

69

11. Related-Party Transactions (continued)

(b) Year-end Balances

2020 2019
Due from related parties $ $
Gibbons Management Services Limited 18,488 18,812
Colonial Master Retirement Trust (CMT) – 56
Colonial Master Deed (CMD) 784 168

19,272 19,036

2020 2019
Due to related parties $ $
Colonial Master Retirement Trust 728 1,051

728 1,051

The amounts due to and from companies related through common control are due on demand. No provisions
are held against amounts due from related parties (2019 – $Nil). The balance due from Gibbons
Management Services Limited bears interest at rates varying from 3% to 5.75% per annum. The balances
due from CMT and CMD are repayable on demand and are non-interest bearing. Included in investment
income is net interest income of $1,133 (2019 – $1,135) received from GMSL. Balances with all other
related parties are non-interest bearing.

(c) Investments

During the year, the Group used Clarien Bank Limited and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively,
Clarien) for certain banking, investment custodian, and investment management services. Prior to
December 31, 2013, the Group and Clarien were related by common control.

As at December 31, 2020, the Group has cash on deposit with Clarien of $11,448 (2019 – $13,715).

At December 31, 2020, the Group had 5 (2019 – 5) positions with an aggregate carrying value of $54,865
(2019 – $52,899) in investment funds managed by Clarien Bank Limited.
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11. Related-Party Transactions (continued)

At December 31, 2020, investments accounted for at fair value through profit and loss with a fair value of
$179,531 (2019 – $141,496) and investments accounted for at amortized cost of $28,008 (2019 – $24,482)
were held and managed by Clarien Bank Limited. The transactions with Clarien Bank Limited occur on
standard commercial terms.

The Group paid investment fees of $1,109 (2019 – $1,004) to Clarien at fees ranging from 0.35% to 0.5%
of total net asset value of the investment portfolio for the year ended December 31, 2020.

(d) Key Management Compensation

Compensation to key management employees deemed to be related parties under IAS 24 was as follows:

2020 2019
$ $

Short term employee benefits 9,931 8,620
Defined contribution pension and medical insurance expenses 781 742

10,712 9,362
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12. Leases

The Group lease contracts for buildings and motor vehicles with up to a five-year term and options to renew
for up to a further ten years. Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and movements
during the period:

2020
$

As at January 1, 2020 25,581
Additions 3,072
Accretion of interest 1,273

Payments (3,384)
As at December 31, 2020 26,542

Current 3,433
Non-current 23,109

The following are the amounts recognized in profit or loss:

2020
$

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets 2,596
Interest expense on lease liabilities 1,278
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in property expenses) 99
Total amount recognized in profit or loss 3,973

The Group had total cash outflows for leases of $3,474 in 2020. The Group also had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of $3,072 in 2020.
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13. Segregated Funds

Segregated funds comprise holdings in mutual funds and cash held on behalf of pension plan clients,
investors and holders of investment contracts.

2020 2019
The assets are held in the trust as follows: $ $

Coralisle Private Trustee Ltd. – CPT
(Formerly Colonial Private Trustee Limited)

26,732 35,739

Colonial Master Deed – Cayman Islands – CMD 240,910 312,241
Coralisle Master Retirement Trust – CMRT
(Formerly Colonial Master Retirement Trust)

209,589 218,282

Coralisle Individual Master Retirement Trust – CIMRT
(Formerly Colonial Individual Master Retirement Trust)

110,951 87,391

Coralisle Bahamas Fund (Formerly Colonial Bahamas Fund) 132,894 128,564
Privately Held Funds – Bahamas 8,384 8,704
Coralisle Life Unit Trust (Formerly Colonial Life Unit Trust) 88,970 75,180
Scotia Bank BVI/TCI Pension Plans 720 337

819,150 866,438

The assets held in trust by CPT, CMT, CMD and CIMRT are in respect of pension plans administered by
CPS in Bermuda and Cayman.

The assets held in trust by Colonial Bahamas Fund and private funds in Bahamas are in respect of pension
plans administered by CPSB in the Bahamas.

Colonial Life Unit Trust is registered as an exempted trust in the Cayman Islands. The Fund is organized
as a Multi Fund Unit Trust, providing for creation of any number of classes of units. The assets are held on
behalf of holders of investment contracts issued by CLAC.
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13. Segregated Funds (continued)

The underlying investments of the segregated funds consist exclusively of managed funds and cash with
the exception of funds administered by CPSB. The carrying value is as follows:

2020 2019
$ $

Managed funds 100,229 83,986
Fixed maturity securities 274,118 306,278
Common equity securities 357,558 392,402
Preferred shares 17,687 18,244
Cash and accruals 69,558 65,529
Total segregated fund assets at end of year 819,150 866,439

Changes in net assets during the year are as follows:

2020 2019
$ $

Net assets at beginning of period 866,438 765,729

Increase during the period
Amounts received from unit holders 96,400 103,993
Net increase in market value of investments 70,201 106,078

166,601 210,071
Decrease during the period
Amounts withdrawn by unit holders 212,733 108,582
Amounts withdrawn for life premiums 1,219 928
Surrender values reverting to the Group (63) (148)

213,889 109,362
Net assets at end of period 819,150 866,438

As a result of administering the above pension assets, the Group earned investment management fees in the
amount of $10,608 (2019 – $11,437).
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14. General and Administrative

2020 2019
$ $

Staff 46,040 44,917
Property 3,669 3,947
Professional 7,715 5,542
Computer 6,185 5,066
Depreciation and amortization 6,027 6,737
Marketing 5,051 2,935
Travel 639 1,982
Office 1,193 1,609
Corporate fees 1,436 1,230
Communications 1,163 1,101
Provision for bad and doubtful debts 1,268 450
Donations 512 226
Memberships and subscriptions 268 178
Other expenses including finance charges 5,633 3,135
Total general and administration expenses 86,799 79,055
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15. Change in Operating Working Capital

2020 2019
$ $

(Increase) decrease in:
Accounts receivable and accrued interest (1,452) 461
Insurance and reinsurance balances receivable 2,651 (1,995)
Prepaid reinsurance premiums (4,693) (3,706)
Losses recoverable from reinsurers 21,705 (1,866)
Deferred acquisition costs (588) (385)
Other assets (1,213) 245

Increase (decrease) in:
Outstanding losses and loss expenses (38,632) 15,699
Reinsurance balances payable – Life 1,116 (283)
Unearned premiums 5,727 4,591
Deferred commission income 1,090 961
Reinsurance balances payable – Non-life 3,299 3,241
Accounts payable and other liabilities 6,865 (519)
Adjustment for profit commission – 626

(4,125) 17,070

16. Dividends

During the year, the Group declared a dividend payable to its sole shareholder of $7,000 (2019 – $4,000).
Subsequent to year-end, a dividend in the amount of $9,000 was declared.
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17. Other Liabilities

2020 2019 
$ $

Cash held on behalf of clients and unallocated contributions 4,191 1,685 
Premiums received in advance 3,282 1,895 
Accounts payable and miscellaneous liabilities 19,640 16,668

27,113 20,248

Cash held on behalf of clients represents a net amount owed to clients for cash held by the Group for funds
in transit between unitholders and the segregated funds. Cash held on behalf of clients consists of
contributions and redemptions payable, less contributions and redemptions receivable.

18. Commitments

At December 31, 2020, the Group had commitments of $15,000 (2019 – $Nil) relating to Administration 
Service Fees to be paid over a period of 10 years.

19. Subsequent Events

The Group has completed its subsequent events evaluation for the period subsequent to the balance sheet 
through May 13, 2021, the date the financial statements were available to be issued.

There were no subsequent events requiring disclosure or recognition in the audited financial statements.
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